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C . SU M M A R Y


O n January 20, 1999, at 1528 M ountain S tandard Tim e, a C essna P 210N ,


N 79N L, w as destroyed w hen it broke up in flight and collided w ith terrain in the S andia


M ountain W ilderness A rea, near A lbuquerque, N ew  M exico. The instrum ent rated


private pilot and tw o passengers w ere fatally injured. V isual m eteorologicalconditions


prevailed, and an instrum ent flight rules (IFR ) flight plan w as filed for the personal flight


being conducted under Title 14, C FR  P art 91. The flight originated in S cottsdale,


A rizona at 1343 PST.


The flight w as initially w as being provided radar services by controllers at the


A lbuquerque Air R oute Traffic C ontrol C enter (AR TC C ), and w as later given a radio


frequency change to the A lbuquerque Term inal R adar A pproach C ontrol (TR AC O N ).


R ecorded voice com m unications indicate that the pilot w as at flight level 230 w hen he


told the controller at the A lbuquerque C enter that he had experienced a dual vacuum 


pum p failure. 

H e advised the controller that he needed to descend to get below  the


base of the clouds and w as issued an altitude of 14,000 feet. D uring the descent, he


advised the controllers that he m ay have been in a spin and w as advised to contact


approach control.


A fter m aking contact w ith A lbuquerque approach, the pilot advised that he m ay


have just rolled the airplane and that he needed assistance. H e also stated the


airplane w as equipped w ith an electric artificial horizon and com pass backup, but that


they did not agree. S hortly thereafter, radio and radar contact w as lost.


D . D ETA ILS O F TH E IN VESTIG A TIO N 


1. H istory of Flight


A fter departing S cottsdale, A rizona all air traffic control services had been


routine and uneventful. 

H ow ever, at 2219:10, the radar controller at the R -17 sector


inquired, “and novem ber seven nine novem ber lim a verify you’re level at tw o three zero


show ing you four hundred feet low .” A t 2219:14, the pilot replied, “uh nine novem ber


lim a w e’ve just figured out that w e’ve had a dual vacuum  pum p failure w e’ve uh w e’ve


lost both our vacuum  pum ps uh so w e’re gonna need to look for uh som eplace w e’ve


got electric uh back up system s here but w e uh w e’re having a little trouble holding


altitude and everything. The R -17 controller responded, “okay let m e know  if you need


any uh assistance.” A t 2219:35, the pilot inquired, “uh nine novem ber lim a uh how  uh


w hat’s the bottom  of the cloud layer w e’re w e’re i-f-r at this tim e.” D uring this period, an


adjacent sector controller, having heard these transm issions, advised the R -I7 

controller, “and w hen he loses he loses his vacuum  pum ps .... he’s basically just blind
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up there so the sooner you can get him  dow n the better off he is.” The R -17 controller


replied, “oh okay thanks I didn’t know  that.”


A fter being advised that the cloud bases w ere betw een tw elve to thirteen


thousand feet, she then asked the pilot of N 79N L if he w ished to, “start dow n”


(descend). A t 2220:30, the pilot stated, “nine novem ber lim a w e’d like to start dow n


w ell w hat are the bases.” 

The R -17 controller replied, “uh they said around thirteen.”


A t 2220:35, the pilot responded, “nine novem ber lim a w e’d like to start dow n and get


below  the bases.” A t 2220:38, the R -17 controller transm itted, “novem ber seven n8ine


novem ber lim a roger descend and m aintain uh one four fourteen thousand.” The pilot


acknow ledged the clearance. 

A t 2220:48, the radar controller coordinated the flight


through the north airspace of approach control by advising, “yeah I’ve got uh an aircraft


out there about seven northeast of the v-0-r his code is zero seven zero four he’s at


flight level tw o three zero needs to descend dow n to fourteen I guess he lost his


vacuum  pum ps or w hatever.” 

The north radar approach controller approved the


descent.


A t 2221:47, the R -17 controller inquired, “novem ber seven nine novem ber lim a


are you gonna continue on to W ichita or you w anna uh land early.” 

A t 2221:51, the


pilot advised, “nine novem ber lim a w e’re gonna w ant to land early.” A t 222155, the R -

17 controller responded, “okay at A lbuquerque.” The pilot then replied, “uh negative if


w e can get dow n below  the cloud layer w e’d like to get to Liberal K ansas if w e could.”


The R -17 controller transm itted, “okay very good keep m e advised thank you.” The


pilot responded, “nine novem ber lim a thanks for the help.” W hile w orking other traffic,


the radar associate (R A-17) controller, w ho w as assisting the R -17 controller, called the


next sector that w ould be w orking the airplane to advise, “he said if he can get below 


the clouds he’ll go on to Liberal so he’s heading dow n to get below  the clouds now .”


The R -16 controller inquired, “okay he still hasn’t figured out w hat’s w rong though huh.”


The associate controller replied, “he has.” 

The R -16 controller replied, “his vacuum 


cleaners broke.” The associate at R A17 replied, “vacuum  tube lossage.” A nd after the


R -16 controller repeated w hat w as heard, the associate replied, “yes both of them .”


The R 16 controller replied, “thank you.” A t 2224:16, the R -17 controller transm itted,


“novem ber seven nine novem ber lim a contact A lbuquerque C enter on one three tw o


point eight he’ll have low er for you shortly and uhjust keep him  advised if you need any


uh if you need any uh further assistance.” 

The pilot did not respond. 

A t 2224:33, the


R -17 controller transm itted, “novem ber seven nine novem ber lim a A lbuquerque.” At


2224:35, the pilot transm itted, “nine novem ber lim a w e’re having’ trouble I think w e’re in


a spin.” At 2224:50, the pilot transm itted, “nine novem ber lim a w e’re back w ith you.”


W hile the R -17 controller initiated an interphone call to north approach


controller, the R A -17 controller transm itted to the pilot, “nine novem ber lim a roger are


you gonna w ant to land at A lbuquerque then.” The R -17 controller the called the north


radar controller at A lbuquerque approach and at 2224:57 advised, “yeah that seven


nine novem ber lim a that w e pointedout to you descending to fourteen he needs to land


now  he said he’s in a spin I think he m ight have it under control so uh he w ants vectors


into the airport you w ant m e to put him  on you or you w ant m e to give him  a certain


heading.” D uring the above conversation, the pilot w as advising the R A -17 controller,


“uh that’s affirm ative w e need vectors to A lbuquerque.” The R A -17 controller then


inquired, “and nine novem ber lim a w hat’s your altitude now .” O n the interphone, the


approach controller w as advising the R -17 controller, “uh just put him  on a uh tw o sixty
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heading and a (unintelligible)”. 

The R -17 controller replied, “your control.” The R A-17


controller continued to talk to the pilot of N 79N L w ho advised her, “nine novem ber lim a


w e’re indicating one eight thousand.” At 2225:17, the R A-17 controller transm itted,


“novem ber uh nine novem ber lim a roger fly heading tw o six zero and contact approach


on one tw o seven point four.” 

The pilot acknow ledged the frequency change at


222526,

At 222544, the pilot of N 79N L m ade initial radio contact w ith the north


approach controller at A lbuquerque. H earing no response, the pilot m ade another call


at 222552 to inquire, “...how  do you hear.” At 222555, the approach controller


transm itted, “centurion uh calling approach uh say again your call sign seven niner


w hat.” A t 222559, the pilot transm itted, “seven nine novem ber lim a A lbuquerque


approach.” A t 2226:02, the controller replied, “seven niner novem ber lim a verify at uh


one seven thousand six hundred.” A t 2226:06, the pilot replied, “uh that’s affirm ative


uh nine novem ber lim a w e’ve lost both our vacuum  pum ps and uh I think w e just w ent


through a uh a a roll uh w e’re w e’ve got electric driven backup system s uh electric


horizon electric uh com pass and they’re not uh agreeing w ith each other at this tim e so


w e’re gonna need som e help.”


A t 2226:25, the approach controller replied, ”sierra five echo rom eo roger


uh you’re uh stable there at uh one seven thousand four hundred.” A t 2226:32, the


pilot responded, “negative nine novem ber lim a w e’re uh not necessarily stable.” At


2226:32 the controller transm itted, “roger uh can you accept uh .... uh just uh standard


right turns for the uh vectors.” A t 2226:48, the pilot replied, “N ine novem ber lim a w e’re


gonna need som e help.” At 2226:55, the controller transm itted, “novem ber niner


novem ber lina radar uh the altim eters uh tw o niner eight six and it appears you’re


northw est bound at this tim e.” A t 2227:07, the pilot transm itted, “w e’re at one four


thousand four hundred uh nine novem ber lim a.” At 2227:12, the controller replied,


“novem ber niner novem ber lim a roger and uh if you can just uh turn right standard turn


to the uh right.” A t 2227:20, the pilot transm itted, “nine novem ber lim a w e’re w e’re


going dow n w e’re dead.” There w as no im m ediate response from  the controller. A t


227:50, the controller transm itted, “novem ber seven niner novem ber lim a ident.” A t


2228:24, the controller transm itted, “novem ber seven niner novem ber lim a radar


contact lost.” From  228:56 until 2229:48, the radar controller attem ptedfour calls to the


airplane w ithout a response. A t 22231:14, a position relief briefingw as recorded.


2. Air Traffic C ontrol facilities


The A lbuquerque C enter is a Level Ill air traffic control facility. It is

operational 24-hours a day. The facility’s traffic count for C Y 1996 w as 1,496,467


com paredto 1,484,177for the previous calendar year, a 0.8 percent increase.


The pilot of N 79N L m ade initial radio contact w ith sector 38. The flight w as later


instructed to contact sector 17. This is the en route sector that eventually handed the


flight off to A lbuquerque TR AC O N .
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3. E quipm ent C ertifications


There w ere no equipm ent certifications conducted by either air traffic


control facility. A  review  of FAA Form  7230-4 for both the C enter and the TR AC O N  did


not disclose any outages that w ould have been a factor in the accident.


4. W eather


The w eather as reportedat A lbuquerque at 1536 local tim e w as:


C eiling 5,500 broken, visibility 10 m iles, tem perature 57, dew  point 34, w ind 270 at 15,


gust to 23, altim eter 29.86. P recipitationw as also reported.


5. C ontroller Inform ation


A lbuquerque AR TC C 


S usan E . A nderson


EO D  FA A :


E O D  ZA B :


C ertificationnorth area:


AT B ulletin


O ver the shoulder R ID -17 S atisfactory


O ver the shoulder r/D -16


Lost aircraft orientation:


Tape talk:


M S A W :


K athleen G allagher


EO D  FA A :


EO D  ZA B :


C ertification north area:


R -17 controller


12/04/89


02/27/90


12/11/92


03/01199


12/01198


11/12/98


11/12/98


11111/98


03/28/98


AR -17 controller


11 I08188


0 1 /I7/89


10/25/91
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Tape talk:


O ver the shoulder R -17 satisfactory


Air Traffic B ulletin


Lost aircraft orientation:


M S A W :


W illiam  D . B ryan


EO D  FAA:


EO D  ZAB:


N orth area certification:


N orthw est area certification:


N orth area certification:


Tape talk:


O ver the shoulder D -17 satisfactory:


Lost aircraft:


A lbuquerque TR AC O N 


John M . R iley


EO D  FAA:


M onroe, Louisiana TR AC AB


El P aso ATC T


EO D  ABQ :


C TO  issued:


Facility rated at ABQ :

Air Traffic B ulletin


02/20/99


02/06/99


1012 1/98


11/27/98


04/03/98


A rea S upervisor


1211 7/73


12117/73


07117/76


03119/86


09/20/95


10/08/98


06/30/98


1 1/30/98


A pproach controller


03/01189


06119/89


05128/95


05/24/98


11/29/89


1 0/30/98

09129/98
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S eldom  used procedures


Lost aircraft orientation


Janet G . G ordon


EO D  FAA:


Texarkana ATC T


Shreveport R A PC ON m ow er


D 10 TR AC O N 


D AL TR AC AB


EO D  ABQ :


C TO  issued:


Facility rated at ABQ :


Air Traffic B ulletin


Seldom  used procedures


Em ergencies


Lost aircraft orientation


09/08/98


02/03/98


TR AC O N  supervisor


0611 8/82


0611 8/82


0211 3/89


01/13/91


06/30/91


05/1 6/93


0311 3/83


12/18/93


10/08/98


09/02/98


04/30/98


0 310519 8


6.


C ontroller Interview  Sum m aries


S usan E laine A nderson 

R -I 7 controller


O n M arch IO , 1999, the ATC  G roup interview ed M s. A nderson. 

In


response to questions, she provided the follow ing inform ation:


H er date of birth is 1962. H er operating initials are AZ.


S he has prior m ilitary ATC  experience that w as gained w hile serving in the US Air


Force w ith her last duty station being Tyndall AFB, Panam a C ity, Florida. 

S he is not a


pilot. 

H er im m ediate supervisor is currently D ale M cC abe; how ever at the tim e of the


accident, it w as W ill B ryan. H e had been her supervisor for alm ost a year. 

M r. M cC abe


becam e her supervisor during the end of February. S he is m edically certified w ithout


w aivers or restrictions and her last physicalw as during S eptem ber 1998.
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O n the day of the accident she w as w orking a 1200 to 1800 M ST that


she had sw apped into so she could get off w ork a little earlier. Initially she had been


scheduled to w ork a 1400 to 2200 M ST shift. S he w as on the second day of a 5-day


w orkw eek, S he cam e to be w orking the R -17 position as a result in the rotation of the


break board. S he w as w orking both radar and associate radar com bined at the R -17


position. W hen asked to describe traffic density and com plexity up to the point prior to


the accident, she said it w as m oderately busy, generally routine com plexity, but a little


bit busy. W hen asked if she believed she needed assistance, she said no. W hen


asked if she understoodw hat it m eant or the ram ifications at the tim e the pilot advised


he had lost both vacuum  pum ps, she said no. W hen asked if she had understood the


effect if w ould have on the pilot’s ability to fly the airplane, she said no. W hen asked if

she had ever, w hen w orking a position on previous occasions heard the term  used, she


said no. W hen it w as noted that som eone else had advised her w hat the ram ifications


w ere, she acknow ledged this person had said that he w as flying in the dark and that he


needed to get dow n. S he continued to say that to her, it m eant that it effected his


instrum ents, but that he said he had electrical backup and not being a pilot she did not


really know  w hat it m eant.


To her, a backup m eant that a system  failed, but that he had backup.


W hen asked if, in her experience, she had ever had to go to backup radios and not


have that w ork, she said, the standbys, yeah I have had that happen. W hen asked if,


beyond her Air Force or FAA experience, had she had ever attended a ground school


she replied, no. W hen asked if she had ever taken a trip on the jum pseat, she said


yes. W hen asked if she had done any kind of general aviation flying, she said no, only


as a passenger. S he had flow n to Los Alam os and back w ith a relative in a C essna.


This had occurred about 15 years ago. W hen pointed out that although a pilot m ay


advise he has a backup, it m ight not necessarily be w orking, she said, yes, but I w ould


expect the pilot to tell m e that it w asn’t w orking. W hen asked if she w as able to m onitor


the m ode C  [altitude] of the aircraft, she said, yes to a point. W hen asked w hat she


m eant, she said that w hen the pilot advised that he w as in a spin, she did not see the


m ode C  for a couple of seconds. S he said that she could not recall how  long it

occurred. 

W hen asked how  it w as displayed, she said that she could not recall. W hen


asked if the datablock had show n “X X X ” or “N ”, she said that she could not recall.


W hen asked if she had ever given a no-gyro vector or approach, she


said not w hile in the FA A . W hen asked if she had ever done so either in sim ulation or


in real circum stance, she said she did not rem em ber ever having done so in sim ulation.


W hen asked w hen she had taken her last D ysim  problem  on unusual situations or


em ergencies, she said that other than her initial radar program , she did not believe that


she had taken any. W hen asked if she could recall how  long ago it had been since her


last D ysim  problem , she said 1991. S he believed that som etim e betw een that year and


the present, she had gone into the radar sim ulator to run a problem , but she could not


recall w hat it specifically w as for. W hen asked if CBl’s or the C A TS  program s


addressed unusual situations or em ergencies, she replied, em ergencies. W hen asked


if the program  contained a sim ulation w here one w ould have to provide assistance to


an aircraft, she said no. W hen asked if the nature of these program s w ould be m ore


academ ic, she said yes.


a




W hen asked if a pilot w ere to advise her that he w as in a spin, w hat her


course of action should be, she said that w ould not have done anything differently that


w hat she did w ith the accident airplane. W hen asked if one w ould handle it as an


em ergency or w hether she thought an em ergency situation w as occurring, she said, the


spin, yes. W hen it w as pointed out that there appeared to be no effort m ade to


determ ine if the pilot w as stabilized. S he said that she w as not going to bother the


pilot, that he cam e on frequency and said he had it under control and that he w anted to


land at A lbuquerque. W hen it w as pointed out that the pilot had advised that he w as


back on frequency and there w as no m ention of being in control, she said that w hen he


advised he w as back on frequency she w alking talking to approach control. S he said


that w e saw  his m ode C , observed the target again, the pilot asked for vectors and in


her view , if the pilot asked for vectors, she believed him  capable of doing it at that


point. W hen asked at w hat point she considered the airplane to be an em ergency, she


said w hen the pilot advised of the vacuum  pum p failure, it w as a potential em ergency


and that she handled it as if here w ere an actually em ergency. 

W hen asked w hat the


position of the airplanew as in relationto the VO R  w hen the pilot asked for vectors, she


said that she did not recall.


W hen asked how  far from  the airport the airplane w as, she said she did


not recall. W hen asked w hat the last m ode C of the airplane m ight have been, she


believed 17,900 feet. S he said that w hen the pilot w as talking to approach control, she


saw  that it w as low er, but she could not recall specifically w hat it m ight have been.


W hen asked if she had ever been trained to obtain basic inform ation from  a pilot so

that a course of action could be determ ined, she said yes. W hen asked w hat type of


inform ationw ould be solicited, she said aircraft identification, type aircraft, nature of the


em ergency and the pilot’s desires. W hen asked if the pilot’s deviation in altitude is


w hat had prom pted her attention to that particular aircraft, she said yes. W hen asked


about the pilot‘s ability to track his airw ay or route, she said that after she questioned


the pilot about his altitude, she noticed he w as right of course. S he w ent on to note


that she did not see S -turns as w ere depicted on the radar track plot. W hen asked if


this had been the first em ergency she had encountered, she said no. W hen asked if


this had been the first in her FAA career, she said no. W hen asked if she had ever


encountered an aircraft, in w hich the pilot m ight be disoriented, she said no.


W hen asked if, since the tim e of the accident if she had studied anything


in respect to lost aircraft or em ergencies, she said that she had looked in the


handbook2under em ergencies and had review ed it. W hen asked w hen she did this,


she said last S unday [M arch 71. W hen asked her w hat had prom pted her to review  this


inform ation, she said the quality assurance specialist. W hen asked, prior to the


accident, w hen the last tim e she had review edthis specific m aterial, she believed that it


had occurred during C BI training that she had taken during the past year. W hen asked


if this m ight have occurred during N ovem ber 1998, she said that she could not recall.


W hen asked if she ever believed that the pilot w as disoriented, she said no, not until


the pilot advised that he w as in a spin. W hen asked if there w ere things that a


controller could do w ith a disoriented pilot to them  re-orient him self or regain control,


she said no, not in that situation w ithout pilot experience. S he noted there w as a


difference w ith a pilot w ho w as disoriented as opposed to one w ho w as just lost.


FAA O rder 71 10.65, “AirTraffic  Control” Handbook

2 
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W hen asked if she had notified the supervisor of the event, she said she


notified the supervisor m ore than once. The first tim e had occurred w hen he said he


had lost his vacuum  pum ps and the second tim e occurred w hen the pilot advised he


w as in a spin, and the third tim e occurred w hen they heard a squeal on frequency


121.5. W hen asked w hy she m ight have said som ething to the supervisor regarding


121.5, she said she told the supervisor that they believed the airplane had crashed.


W hen asked if she had ever heard that there are tim es w hen frequency changes


should be kept to a m inim um , she said yes. W hen asked w hy she decided to change


the pilot to approach control, she said because of m ountainous terrain, he w anted to


land at A lbuquerque and that she didn’t w ork that airspace. S he noted that an earlier


frequency change she had issued w as because the pilot had advised her that he


w ished to continue on to Liberal, K ansas. W hen asked w hat the m inim um  safe altitude


is over the m ountains, she said, 13,000 feet. W hen asked if there had been any


attem pt to determ ine w here there w as VFR  conditions, she said no, other that to


determ ine the base of the clouds. W hen asked w hy this w as not attem pted, she said


that the pilot had asked for it and she obtained it. S he w ent on to say that not know ing


the full im pact of a vacuum  pum p failure it did not enter her m ind and that the pilot said


he w anted to get below  the cloud base. W hen asked in retrospect, if there w ere


anything she w ould have done differently, she said not w ith the know ledge that she had


at the tim e. W hen asked if since the tim e of the accident, she had gained know ledge,


in w hich she m ight now  react differently, she said som e friends had explained vacuum 


pum ps to her, but that she w ould not speculate on w hat she w ould have done


differently. W hen asked if there had been any other controllers nearby that w ere a


pilot, she said no. W hen asked if either she or her assistant had m ade an attem pt to


find out if there w ere any qualified pilots in the area, she said no. W hen asked w hy


not, she said, I didn’t think of it and it didn’t seem  necessary. W hen asked if she had


received any training to assist a pilot w ho is not able to navigate his aircraft. 

S he said


none other than to help him  in determ ining his position. W hen asked if she had


received training in helping a pilot to navigate w here he needed to go, she said yes.


W hen asked how  m uch tim e m ight have elapsed from  the tim e of the last observed


m ode C  until the pilot w as advised to sw itch to approach control. S he believed it m ight


have been 6 or 7 m inutes but also noted that she w ould have to look at a transcript to


be sure.


K athleen Frances G allagher 

A ssociate R adar C ontroller


O n M arch 10, 1999, the ATC  G roup interview ed M s. G allagher. 

In


response to questions, she provided the follow ing inform ation:


H er date of birth is  1965. H er operating initials are K V . S he


is m edically qualified as a controller w ith a w aiver to w ear contact lenses for


nearsighted vision. H er last physical w as during O ctober 1997. 

S he w as w earing her


contacts on the day of the accident. S he has no prior m ilitary ATC  experience nor is


she a pilot. H er im m ediate supervisor at the tim e of the accident w as W ill B ryan and he


had been for about 2 years. C urrently her im m ediate supervisor for about a m onth has


been D ick K inderbuck. O n the day of the accident she w as w orking an assigned 1400


to 2200 M ST shift w hich w as the second day of a 5-day w orkw eek. A t the tim e of the


accident, she w as w orking the associate radar position at sector 17. Initially, she had


plugged into the R -side to relieve the controller then m oved to the D -side. W hen asked
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w hy she had done this, she said that w hen she plugged in, she had inquired if the flight


[N 79N L] w as level, and w hen the pilot advised that he w as having problem s, she


thought that it w ould be too com plex. W hen asked w hat she thought w ould be too


com plex, she said it w as fairly busy at the tim e, and she the pilot advised of losing his


vacuum  pum ps, and given his proxim ity to other sectors, she believed it w ould be


easier to have tw o people at the position. O ne to do the coordinate and the other to


w ork the airplanes. W hen asked w hat gave her reason to believe it w as a potential


em ergency, she said, anytim e som eone says they have difficulty w ith equipm ent it is a


potential em ergency until I know  otherw ise. W hen asked if there w as anytim e she


thought otherw ise, she said no, there w as never a point I thought he had totally cleared


his difficulty, but I never thought that it w as an em ergency, only a potential em ergency.


W hen he said he w as in a spin, I thought it w as one [em ergency] then. W hen asked if


the airplane seem ed to be erratic or having a problem  in navigating, she said she did


not notice. S he did coordinate w ith adjacent sectors to advise them  of equipm ent


problem s and because she w as not sure if the pilot w anted to land at A lbuquerque, she


w anted that specific sector to know  w here the airplane w as. W hen asked w here the


sector 94 airspace w ould be in relation to the A lbuquerque airport, she noted that


because the area shares airspace w ith approach control, the airplane w ould have been


about 15 m iles from  that particular airspace. W hen asked if she knew  w hat the


ram ification of losing vacuum  pum ps had, she said no. W hen asked if since the day of


the accident she had learned of the ram ifications, she said yes. W hen asked w hat it

m eant to her, she said she understood that a pilot w ould lose their instrum ent panel


and that it w ould be difficult for a pilot to know  their attitude. W hen asked if she had


noticed the airplane to have an erratic m ode C, she said no. 

W hen asked if she ever


believed there w as a sense of urgency in handling the flight that needed to be


accom plished, she said she felt it w as urgent to respond to the pilot’s intentions. S he


noted that the pilot had asked for a low er altitude and that they got that for him . S he


w ent on to say that w hen the pilot advised he w as in a spin she felt that it w as urgent.


W hen asked if the m ode C  had been lost w hen the airplane w as in a spin, she said


yes. W hen asked if she had observed the m ode C go from  one altitude to a different


altitude once it w as regained, she w as it w as lost for a w hile and didn’t show  anything.


S he then asked the pilot to say his altitude and he reportedeither 17,800 or 17,900and


the m ode C  w as indicating 18,000. S he w ent on to say that she w as not exactly sure


w hat the pilot said, but she believed som ething like I’m  indicating seventeen nine or


seventeen eight or som ething. W hen asked if she had posed the question to the pilot


about if he w anted to land at A lbuquerque, she said yes.


S he noted that the radar controller had asked the pilot the sam e


question earlier. W hen asked w hat she thought that it m eant w hen the pilot advised


that he w as back w ith you, she said that he had regained control of his aircraft. W hen


asked that w ithout the pilot specifically stating so, [having regained control of the


airplane], she really did not know , she replied that’s correct. W hen asked if she had


received training to determ ine if a pilot can m aintain an altitude, heading or is able to


navigate, she said w ith navigation one could eventually tell, and the altitude if he w as


getting. W hen asked to relate the answ er specifically to the accident airplane she said,


the pilot w ould have to tell them  he could not navigate, and if he w as m aintaining his


altitude w ithin a few  hundred feet they could tell. In her view , it w ould take som e tim e


because of the speed of the airplane. W hen asked if, based on questions posed to a


pilot could one determ ine if he is disoriented, she said no, I don’t think so. W hen asked


if one could determ ine if the airplane w as stable or not, she said I don’t know , I’m  not
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sure. W hen asked how  one could determ ine if the pilot could navigate, m aintain a


heading or altitude, if there w ere no questions posed to the pilot, she said that she


w ould expect the pilot to tell her. S he notedthat had the pilot advised that he could not


m aintain a heading a no-gyro turn could have been issued. W hen asked if the pilot


advised he could not m aintain an altitude, w hat she w ould do, she said she did not


know . W hen asked if the pilot said that he could not navigate,w hat she w ould do, she


said offer no-gyro vectors.


W hen asked if just she, or both she and the radar controller had an


assum ption that the pilot w as in control of the airplane, she said she did not know  if the


radar controller did. For herself, she w asn’t sure and she asked the pilot if he w anted


to land here [A lbuquerque]. The pilot replied yes and w hen he said he w anted vectors


she assum ed that the pilot w as capable of taking vectors. W hen asked w hat the last


m ode C  readout that she had observed, she said eighteen [FL180]. H er last


observation of the m ode C  w as at fourteen five [14,500 feet]. W hen asked if the pilot


had requested a descent and it w as issued, w as it unusual that he stopped at 18,000


feet. S he said no because the pilot had been in a spin and w hen he cam e out he w as


trying to stabilize him self and it w as for a very short period of tim e and she w as still


talking to the pilot. W hen asked if she had review ed section 10 of the ATC  H andbook


that speaks to em ergencies, she said, not since the accident, no. W hen asked if she


had studied anything that she believed w as relevant to the accident. S he said no.


W hen asked the last tim e she had taken a D ysim  problem , she said she w as not sure


of the date, but that it w as about a year ago. W hen asked w hat the purpose of the


problem  w as, she said it w as training follow ing an operational error. W hen asked,


other than that, w hen w as the last D ysim  problem  she had taken relative to a lost


aircraft or an em ergency, she said she could not recall the date, but she guessed it w as


about 3 years ago. W hen asked if the C BI regarding lost aircraft had anything that


w ould assist in an accident such as had occurred. S he said that she did not believe so.

W hen asked if the C BI contained any type of sim ulation, she said no. W hen asked if

she had issued the heading of 260 to the pilot of N 79N L, she said yes. W hen asked if

she had observed the airplane take the issued heading, she said it did not appear so.


W hen asked w hat the heading of the airplane appeared to be prior to being issued the


heading of 260, she said about a 280 heading. W hen asked w hat he heading of the


airplane m ight have been prior to reporting difficulties, she said about a 060 heading.


W hen asked to confirm  that the airplane had alm ost reversed course, she said yes.


W hen asked if anyone had questioned that, she said w ell, if he told us he w as spinning


I w ouldn’t think it w ould be necessary.


W hen asked if she had assum ed the airplane w as under control, she


said that she assum ed the airplane w as no longer in a spin. S he also noted that there


w as no certainty that the airplane w ould stop the spin in the sam e direction at w hich he


entered it. W hen asked if it seem ed strange that approach control w anted the airplane


on a heading of 260, she said she thought it w as because the airplane w as right over


the S andias [m ountains] and they w anted to get him  [the airplane] aw ay from  the


m ountains and get the airplane low er.
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W illiam  D uane B ryan Area S upervisor


O n M arch 10, 1999, the ATC  G roup interview ed M r. B ryan. In response


to questions, he offered the follow ing inform ation:


H is date of birth is , 1947. H e had no prior m ilitary ATC

experience nor is he a pilot. 

R udy G uiterrez is his


im m ediate supervisor and has been for about 1.5years. H e is m edically certified as a


controller w ith w aivers for glasses to correct distant vision and an erratic heartbeat that


is treated w ith m edication. 

H is last physical w as during June 1998. H is assigned shift


on January 20 w as a flex-shift betw een 1200 to 2000 M ST and 1400 to 2200 M ST so


he w orked from  1140 to 1940 M ST. It w as the second day of a five-day w orkw eek.


There w as another supervisor assigned in the area as the operational supervisor w ho


w as w orking a 1500 to 2300 M ST shift. 

A bout 1500, he relieved this person so he


could attend a stand-up briefing. W hen asked w hat the staffing for the area w as, he


said that he did not know . 

H e did note that all sectors w ere open w ith the exception of


sector 73. H e could not rem em ber if all sectors w ere m anned w ith one or tw o


controllers. 

W hen asked how  breaks are m anaged, he said that the north specialty


uses a break bay. 

H e noted that other areas use a break list. W hen asked w ho


m anages the bay, he said the first line supervisor did. W hen asked w here in the area


he w as generally located, he said that he w as w alking around the area. W hen as,


overall in the area, how  the traffic w as? H e replied the traffic w as probably slow  for that


tim e of day and there w as not a lot going on. W hen asked how  the accident aircraft


had com e to his attention, he said, to step back a bit, S usan w as w orking R and 0-17.


K athleenw ent over to relieve her and give her a break. D uring this tim e, the pilot m ade


a com m ent about problem s w ith the airplane and then K athleen stated on the D -side


and S usan stayed on radar. They both stayed on these positions because of the


com plexity of traffic at the tim e. 

The decision for K athleen to w ork the D -side w as a


collective decision betw een the tw o of them . W hen asked w hat they thought w as going


to increase the com plexity, he said he could not recall if he saw  som ething or that


S usan had said som ething. H e said that he ended up behind S usan after it all started.


W hen asked w hat w as conveyed to him , he said there w ere a couple of things. H e


noted it is unusual w hen one controller is to be relieved and yet they both stay at the


sector to w ork. H e also said that he overheard S usan say som ething to him  about an


aircraft losing both of its vacuum  pum ps and had electrical backup, and later on it w as


relayed to him  the airplane w as in a spin. H e noted that initially, even though the pilot


had lost his vacuum  pum ps and had backup, things w ere not too severe at that point.


H is operating initials are BN . 

W hen asked if he had rem ained behind the sector, he said yes. H e said


concerns escalated w hen it w as learned the airplane w as in a spin. H e then notified


the operational m anager at the front desk of w hat w as happening. W hen asked w here


he had m ade the call from , he said that he w as not sure if the m anager w as in the area


or that he had called and asked him  to com e out to the area. 

A lthough he w as not


sure, he noted that the operational m anager did com e out to the area. W hen asked if

he had called him , from  w here w ould the call have been m ade, he said it w ould have


been from  the supervisor’s desk and that the desk w ould have been betw een him  and


the sector. 

W hen asked if the frequency w as in the speaker so that he could m onitor


com m unications, he said no. W hen asked if he had m ade an attem pt to m onitor, he


said no, he w as receiving inform ation verbally from  S usan and K athleen. W hen asked
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if he understood the ram ifications of a pilot losing his vacuum  pum ps, he said he had


som e second hand inform ation, but as a pilot he did not know .


W hen asked if he knew  the ram ifications of losing vacuum  pum ps on the


day of the accident, he said no. W hen asked if he knew  the ram ifications since the day


of the accident, he said yes. W hen asked w hat had spurred him  to learn the


ram ifications, he said it w as hearsay on the sectors and the coffee shop, w ith people


describing w hat the ram ifications w ere, and there w as som e M onday m orning


quarterbacking. W hen asked w hat source he had gone to, he said that he talked to


people w ithin the facility w ho are pilots. W hen asked if he had considered the airplane


to be in an em ergency, he said he personally, did not. 

W hen asked if it had been told


to him  that he airplane w as in a spin, did he consider it an em ergency, he said no.


W hen asked w hy not, he said it w as based on things being relayed by the pilot. H e


said the pilot w as asked if he w anted to land at A lbuquerque and he chose not to do


that because he seem ed m ore concerned in getting base reports to continue on to


Liberal [K ansas], and the pilot never declared an em ergency. H e said that it led him  to


believe w hen the pilot w as at FL180, everything w as okay. H e said that this did not


stop them  from  treating the pilot as if it w ere an em ergency.


W hen asked if a pilot advises that he is in a spin, if as a controller are


there actions w hich can be taken, he said that he w ould not try to fly the aircraft, but


accom m odate him  w ith w hatever he needed such as base reports, w ind, w eather, et


cetera. W hen asked if one w ould attem pt to determ ine if the airplane w ere stable, he


said yes, if he had tim e. H e w ent on to note that controllers are taught not to distract


the pilot, that they are taught to get him  on an established heading and those kind of


things.


W hen asked if it w ere correct that a controller w ould not have to have


pilot skills to determ ine if a pilot could hold a heading, m aintain an altitude or navigate,


he said that is correct. W hen asked if controllers are taught those skills, he said yes.


W hen asked if at any point after being told the airplane w as in a spin that he believed it


w as under control, he said he believed after the pilot told S usan that the aircraft had


leveled at FL180 and that everything w as okay. W hen asked if he had ever observed


the m ode C  of the airplane, he said no, he thought that he had looked but he could not


recall w hat he had seen. W hen asked if he m ight have seen, “X X X ” or “N ” in the


datablock, he said he did not recall seeing that. W hen asked if he had perform ed any


coordination w ith approach control, he said he w as on the phone w ith the supervisor at


approach control confirm ing everything that had been told to S usan. W hen asked how 


long the conversation m ight have lasted, he said he did not recall, but believed it w as


very short. W hen asked if the airplane w as handed off to approach control, he said


that he believedthat it w as.


W hen it w as noted that he had been S usan’s supervisor and how  he


w ould describe her as a controller, he said she is an excellent controller w ith skills,


good w ork ethic and phraseology and very conscientious. W hen asked his view  on the


training of controllers and his having to evaluate their perform ance, if the program  they


receive prepare them  to deal w ith a situation such as they had? H e replied that it

com es out of a C BI or 3120 H andbook item s and he could not rem em ber that or


anything in C BI, but he did believe it cam e in radar training. W hen asked w hen his last


D ysim  problem  w as, he said w hen he had changed specialties about 5 or 6 years ago.
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W hen asked his view  of C B l’s and if there w ere m ore academ ic rather than operational,


he said if is fairly new , that there w ere FP L refreshers on different topics. H e continued


to note that it is m ore a classroom  versus an operational thing w ith no hands-on training


w ith the key to refresher being w hat you had been taught on the D  and R side. W hen


asked if in trying to determ ine if a pilot can hold an altitude or heading, if he believed


those questions should have been posedto a pilot to said he w as in a spin? H e replied


that he did not know  because he did not hear the conversations w ith the pilot and


based on w hat he did hear, he believed they [S usan/K athleen] had done an excellent


job. H e noted they had asked the pilot if he w anted to land at A lbuquerque, had


obtained base reports and that she w as trying to accom m odate the pilot and obtain


inform ation from  him . W hen asked if he had listened to the recorded voice


com m unications, he said no.


John M ichael R iley N orth radar controller - A pproach C ontrol


O n M arch 11, 1999, the ATC  G roup interview ed M r. R iley. In response


to questions, he provided the follow ing inform ation:


H is date of birth is  1959. A fter being hired by the FAA, he


attended the academ y in O klahom a C ity, O klahom a. H is operating initials are M R .


Janet G ordon is his im m ediate supervisor and has been since just before the day of the


accident. 

H e has not prior m ilitary ATC  experience. H e is a pilot w ith com m ercial,


single and m ulti-engine, instrum ent, and C FI ratings. H e has about 1450 hours of


logged tim e. H e is not current. 

H e is m edically certified as a controller w ith no w aivers


or restrictions. 

O n the day of the


accident, he w as w orking a 1445 to 2245 M ST shift w hich w as the first day of a 5-day


w orkw eek. 

H e had not been on a break because after arriving at the facility, it w as his


first position of the day.


H is last m edical w as during D ecem ber 1997. 

W hen asked how  traffic conditions w ere prior to the accident airplane


com ing to his frequency, he said that he really did not rem em ber, but believed it w as


light. 

W hen asked if it w ere routine, he said yes. W hen asked w hat the range of the


radar display w as set to, he believed it w as 45 m iles. W hen asked if he w as depicting


any w eather, he said that he did not rem em ber any w eather being depicted. W hen


asked if it had been set to depict w eather, he said yes. W hen asked to w hat intensity


level it had been set, he said that he did not rem em ber. W hen asked to confirm  that an


intensity level had been set, he said that it w as. W hen asked if his display w as


depicting both prim ary and secondary radar targets, he said that it w as. W hen asked to


confirm  that he initially received a point-out on the accident airplane, he confirm ed that


he did. W hen asked how  the airplane w as depicted on this radar display at that tim e,


he said that he believed that he had started a track on the target. W hen asked w hat


altitude w as displayed on the target, he said that he believed either FL230 or FL210


and that he w ould have to go back to rem em ber w hat it actually w as. W hen asked the


approxim ate position of the airplane, he said that believed the controller had told him 


seven m iles northeast of the VO R and that w as pretty m uch on.


W hen asked w hat the filter lim its of the display w ere set to, he said that


he did not rem em ber. W hen asked if had checked them  or reset them  w hen he took
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over the position, he said that he did not set or recheck them . W hen asked how  long


he m ight have been on the position w hen he received the point-out on the accident


airplane, he said betw een 15 to 25 m inutes and that he w ould have to check to be


sure. W hen asked if he had observed the target of the airplane prior to receiving a


point-out from  the C enter, he said he could not recall. W hen asked to confirm  that he


did not recall seeing the track of the airplane at that tim e, he said that he probably saw 


the target or that he m ay have seen it and w as just not w atching the target. W hen


asked the track of the aircraft at the tim e he initiated a track he said it w as north to


northeast bound som ew here in that general area. W hen asked if the track of the


airplane changed or that it changed to the point that he noticed it, he said I believe it


did. H e thought that it w as on a m ore easterly direction w hen the pilot m ade initial


contact and that since it w as in a turn during the tim e that he w as talking to it, the


heading w as different from  the easterly heading. H e noted that he w ould have to look


at the data extraction to check. W hen asked if the airplane appeared to reverse


course. H e said that from  the tim e of initial contact it w as in a right hand turn, possibly


eastbound or further around and it continued to the right to north or northeast bound


and w hen it reached northeast it descended rapidly and hit the ground. W hen asked if


he had leader lines in use, he said yes. W hen asked if he could tell from  the leader line


w hich w ay the airplane w as turning, he said no. 

W hen he w as asked if the center had


told him  the aircraft w as in a spin at the tim e they had given him  the handoff, he said he


believed she said he had been in one or recovered from  one. 

W hen asked w hat tim e


he had last review ed the transcripts or recorded voice com m unications concerning the


accident, he said it w as several days after the accident and not since then.


W hen asked if he recalled telling the C enter to put the aircraft on a


heading of 260 he said yes. W hen asked if he ever observed the airplane attem pt to


m aneuver to that heading, he said no, that is w here the aircraft appeared to be in a


right turn so there didn’t seem  to be an attem pt to fly the heading. H e knew  the


airplane w as in a right turn. W hen asked w hen he first observed the airplane in a right


turn, he said that he believed it w as w hen I gave the pilot inform ation about being on a


northw est heading that, I know  he is in a right turn. W hen it w as noted that he asked for


control of the airplane, he w as asked to confirm  that he w as given control of the


airplane and he replied, yes. W hen asked if he had m ade a flightstrip or had w ritten


anything dow n, he said no not at that tim e. W hen asked how  he had identified the


airplane w hen he did the track start, he said that he believed that he had just typed in


IFR . W hen asked if he had m ade any attem pt to change it after he took the handoff.


H e said that there w as an auto-handoff w hen the aircraft w as am ended to land at


A lbuquerque and they received a flightstrip and A R TS  inform ation, but he did not


rem em ber if he started the track or it auto-acquired.


W hen asked if the pilot’s having lost both vacuum  pum ps had any


significance for him , he said yes. W hen asked w hat is significant about it, he said that


possibly the attitude and heading indicators w ere not functioning properly. W hen


asked w hen the pilot advised him  that the electric com pass and horizon do not agree, if


he thought that w as significant, he said yes. W hen asked in w hat m anner, he said w ith


som e of the instrum ents are not agreeing, he’s probably got vertigo, disoriented and


doesn’t know  w hat’s up or dow n. W hen asked if he considered that to be significant,


w hat he w as trying to determ ine by asking the pilot is he w as stable. H e said he w as


trying to ascertain if he is in control of the aircraft, straight and level for sure, but that he


is control of the aircraft basically. W hen asked if w hat he w as trying to determ ine if the
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he [pilot] w ere in control, w hy he did not just ask him  that, he said the w ords cam e out


are you stable and he had no idea w hy those w ords cam e out. W hen asked if he


rem em bered the pilot advised that they w ere not necessarily stable, he said yes sir. It


w as posed to him  that after being advised they w ere not necessarily stable, that based


on his view  the pilot m ight be disoriented or has vertigo and m ay not know  up or dow n.


W hy did he ask the pilot if he could accept right turns and w ould this not increase the


risk of becom ing m ore disoriented? H e said his thought w as w hat can I do to help him ,


and if he is disoriented a standard right turn is som ething he can do for m e. W hen


asked to explain w hat a standard right turn w ould do for an airplane that is already in


the right turn. H e said, one of the procedures for an aircraft that has lost som e of its


instrum ents is standard rate turns or no-gyro surveillance turns and w e are trained in


that and pilots are as w ell. W hen asked if he believed that a pilot m ight have vertigo,


m ight not a turn further exacerbate the condition, he said, it is alw ays possible. H e


continued that in this case he believed that it w as the only thing that m ight help the


pilot. W hen asked w hat he w as trying to determ ine w hen he advised the pilot that he


appeared to be northw est bound at this tim e, he said I w as trying to think of som ething


to provide him  w ith som e help. W hen asked if he had observed the m ode C  of the


airplanew hen the pilot advised of being at 14,400 [feet], he said at that exact m om ent I


don’t recall, I m ay have seen it or I m ay not have. W hen asked w hat w as the last m ode


C  that he had observed, he said, the last he rem em bered w as 8,600 [feet]. W hen


asked the elevation of the area, in w hich the airplane w as, he said he knew  the area


goes up to 11,000 feet. W hen asked if he had received an M S A W  alert, he said that


he did not recall. W hen asked if he should have received one, he said that he did not


know  the param eters of the program , but he w ould not doubt it going off under the


circum stances. W hen it w as noted after the aircraft’s last transm ission there w as a


period of about 30 seconds in w hich services w ere term inated to another airplane, w hy


there w ere no further transm issions to the aircraft other than asking the pilot to ident.


H e said that after the transm ission of, w e’re going dow n, the target w ent into coast and


it w as his belief the airplane had hit the ground. H e w as trying to think if there w as


anything he could do if they w ere still alive and he w as also telling the supervisor that


the airplane had just crashed. W hen asked if in questioning the pilot if he could accept


standard rate turns if that since he w as trained to conduct surveillance approaches, if


he w as referring to a turn and bank indicator, he said yes. W hen asked if a turn and


bank indicator w ould provide a pilot w ith the ability to determ ine if he w as flying straight


and level, he said, yes if it is w orking properly.


W hen asked if the attem pt to give a standard right turn w as an effort to


get the airplane aw ay from  high terrain, he said as the aircraft continued the turn, yes


and at the m om ent he w as northw est bound, he w as parallel to the terrain. W hen


asked if he had any idea of how  it w as before the airplane got too close to the terrain,


he said that the aircraft w as heading for the highest point in the m ountains w hen he


asked the pilot if he could turn right. W hen asked if he had the target of the airplane at


that tim e, he said yes. H e could not say for sure if it w as a long tim e. W hen asked to


describe a turn and bank indicator, he said that m ost have a profile of the airplane


w ings w ith m arks for w ings level and that there is a m ark below  that point on the right


and left side to indicate a standard rate turn. H e w ent on to describe a spirit level that


is curved as opposed to being straight, and it tells a pilot w hen in coordinated flight.


W hen aileron and the rudder are used, the ball m oves to the bottom  of the arc. W hen


asked if he w ould expect a pilot to turn a turn and bank indicator for standard rate
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turns, he said yes. W hen asked if it w ould be used as a backup to an attitude indicator,


he said yes. W hen asked how  it w ould be pow ered, he said they are norm ally electric.


W hen asked if a pilot w ould use it as a backup to an attitude indicator he said yes.


W hen asked if he eventually got a flightstrip on the airplane, he said yes. W hen he


received the flightstrip, the airplane w as off the frequency and that there w as no


attem pt to m ark the strip. W hen asked how  the target of the airplane w ould have been


depicted w hen it w as pointed out to him , he said it w as a target w ith an altitude if w ithin


the confines of the filter lim its. W hen asked to w hat level the filter lim its w ould be set,


he said one thousand feet above that.


Janet G ill G ordon Area S upervisor


O n M arch 11, 1999, the ATC  G roup interview ed M s. G ordon. In


response to questions, she provided the follow ing inform ation:


H er date of birth is , 1954. A fter being hired by the FA A , she


attended the academ y in O klahom a C ity, O klahom a. S he is current on all positions at


A lbuquerque and w orks m ore than the basic required hours, usually about 20 hours in


the tow er and 10 to 15 hours in the radar room . S he w orks the north high and low 


position about 3 tim es a m onth. S he m aintains currency on surveillance approaches.


H er operating initials are JG . H er im m ediate supervisor is M ark R eeves and has been


since O ctober 1998. She has no prior m ilitary ATC  background. S he is a pilot but is


not current w ith com m ercial, single, m ulti-engine, instrum ent and C FI ratings. S he has


about 500 hours of logged tim e. S he is m edically certified as a controller w ith a w aiver


to w ear glasses. S he w ears bifocals for both near and distant vision. S he w as w earing


glasses on January 20, 1999. S he w as w orking an assigned 1430 to 2230 M ST shift,


w hich w as the first day of a 5-day w orkw eek. S he w as assigned as the operational


supervisor in the TR AC O N . S taffing that day w as norm al w ith 3 full perform ance level


controllers and a developm ental. 

Low  positions w ere com bined on the high positions,


w hich is norm al.


S he becam e aw are of the accident aircraft w hen the supervisor at the


center called her. W hen asked w hat she w as told. She said they w ere having trouble


w ith him , the pilot had som e problem s w ith the vacuum  system , the pilot had not


declared an em ergency. The supervisor had stated w ords to the effect of, "keep an


eye or him  or you m ay w ant to treat him  as an em ergency", she could not rem em ber


exactly. W hen asked if at this point it had been determ ined that the pilot w anted to


land at A lbuquerque she said yes, he w as com ing here to land. W hen asked if there


w as any sense of urgency in the caller's voice, she said, I can't rem em ber ever having


gotten a call like that before so it definitely got m y attention. W hen asked if the caller


had given her any indicationthat the airplane had been in a spin or an unusual attitude,


she said she could not rem em ber. 

S he knew  that at som e point it had happened once,


but she could not rem em ber if the caller had told her that. W hen asked if she m ight


have learned of it from  M r. R iley, she said after the fact possibly. W hen asked that


given her background if the fact that the pilot had lost his vacuum  pum ps have an


im pact on her, she said that she knew  he w ould not have instrum ents, that som e


instrum ents w ould not be available. W hen asked to am plify w hat she m eant by som e,


she said m ainly attitude type of instrum ents if he w as in the clouds. W hen asked w hat
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w ould be the significance of such, she said not having a horizon, in the clouds he


w ould not have a horizon to orient him self.


W hen asked to clarify if she had received the telephone call from  the


center the sam e tim e that M r. R iley w as talking to the pilot, she said it w as probably all


happening at the sam e tim e. S he recalled that she w as getting a strip on the airplane


right before the phone rang. S he recalled that M ike had asked if she had a strip and


then the phone rang. 

S he w as not sure w hich happened at w hat tim e. W hen asked if


she had gone to the printer and then the phone rang, w ould she had to have returned


to the supervisor‘s desk, she nodded affirm atively. W hen asked w hat occurred after


the phone call, she said that she called the supervisor in the tow er to tell her w hat w as


going on. W hen asked how  long the call took, she said not m ore than a m inute that’s


w hen w e saw  the aircraft com e dow n. W hen asked w here she w as physically located


w hen she called the tow er, she said she w ould have been at the supervisor’s desk.


S he then indicated that w hile she w as talking to the tow er supervisor, there w as a


C O N R AC  display on w hich see could see the tow er BR ITE. W hen asked how  the call


to the tow er w as m ade, she said on the landline. W hen asked if she w ould have to dial


a regular phone num ber, she said just dial 504 and it w as an extension up there.


W hen asked if she had physically m oved to the position at any tim e, she said although


she could not rem em ber the exact sequence, she m ust have hung up on the tow er


supervisor w hen she saw  the airplane go dow n because she w as standing at the final


scope. W hen asked to confirm  that the final scope w as to the left side of the TR AC O N 


she said yes. W hen asked to confirm  that it w as the radarscope next to the position


that M r. R iley w as w orking, she said yes. W hen asked if M r. R iley had given her any


indication of w hat w as occurring, she said that she could not rem em ber, but could hear


w hat he w as saying. In her view , it w as obvious w hen I w as becom ing aw are of the


problem  from  the sup [center supervisor] he w as becom ing aw are of it. W hen asked if

she had heard any of the pilot‘s conversation, she said no. W hen asked how  the


aircraft appeared at it related to its track, she said that w hen the supervisor called her,


the airplane appeared to be heading norm ally and she didn’t notice anything unusual at


the tim e. The airplane w as com ing from  the northeast, southw est bound and she noted


that he m ay have been in a descent, it w asn’t that unusual ... he w as just heading this


w ay. W hen asked if she m eant tow ard the airport, she said, tow ard the airport. 

W hen


asked w hat then occurred, she said that she called the tow er to let her [supervisor]


know  it w as a possible em ergency and to stop departures because he w as in the


departure corridor and that is w hen I saw  him  go dow n.


W hen asked w hat she m ight have observed to give her the im pression


that the airplane had gone dow n. S he said he w as at 14.4 or14.2 [14,400 or 14,200

feet] then his m ode C w ent to “XXX”s and then it show ed 8,600 and that is w hen I hung


up the phone. W hen asked if the airplane w as tracking tow ard the airport, she said no


after he w as at 8,600 I’m  not sure if I saw  another m ode C  but then he w ent into coast.


W hen asked if these observations had occurred on the C O N R AC , she said that she


w as not sure w hen she got over to the final position. S he said that I got over there


quick enough to tell M ike to put the tag in handoff status so that w e w ouldn’t lose him .


W hen asked if other than herself, if there w ere any others in the room  w ho w ere pilot’s,


she said M ike is a pilot, others, no. W hen asked if there had been any M S A W  alerts on


the aircraft, she said she did not recall. W hen asked if they had received an E LT, she


said that I don’t think w e got, R ick and I discussed it, I don’t recall it going off. W hen


asked that although the pilot did not declare an em ergency, did you consider it to be
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one, she said w e w ere treating it as an em ergency. W hen asked if she had heard the


recorded voice com m unications concerning the accident, she said no. W hen asked in


her view , if this pilot is ever disoriented, she said, yeah m y feeling is that he w as and


M ike said som ething like are you under control or can you take a heading or som ething


that m ade m e realize that he w as probably disoriented. W hen asked if there is


anything a controller can do for a pilot that is disoriented, or can a controller determ ine


specific inform ation. S he said that m ost controllers are aw are w hen a pilot is in a


distress situation and that you do not need to be a pilot to know  that.


W hen asked if a controller believes a pilot is disoriented, is there


inform ation he can ask of the pilot to determ ine if w hat he suspects is valid. S he said


yes, it happens and she has heard controllers ask pilots. W hen asked if a controller


w ould attem pt to assist a pilot in determ ining if they w ere disoriented, she said no.

W hen it appeared she did not understand the question it w as re-phrasedto, if you have


an aircraft that you suspect is disoriented, w hat you w ould as a supervisor expect the


controller to ask the pilot. S he said, ask the pilot if he needed assistance because it is


a generic question. W hen asked w hat she w ould expect the controller to do if it w ere


confirm ed the pilot w as disoriented, she said that she w as aw are by w hat M ike w as


saying not by w hat the supervisor had told her. S he continued betw een the tim e M ike


m ade a com m ent about can you accept a heading or som ething, betw een then and the


tim e the airplane cam e dow n, it w as not even a m atter of m inutes. There w as nothing


the controller could do other than stay calm , ask sim ple questions, such as are you lost,


are you in need of assistance. W hen asked if a controller beyond determ ining if a pilot


is under control, w ould there be any other inform ation a controller should glean from 


him , she said it w ould depend on the answ er to the question, if the pilot says no I am 


not under control, it is case specific. S he said that she w as having a hard tim e in

form ulating an answ er. To the question, is the training you receive adequate enough to


deal w ith this type of situation, she said she did not see w hat any other training w ould


have done, so yes. W hen asked to confirm  if she w as M r. R iley’s supervisor, she said


yes. W hen asked how  long she had been his supervisor, she said that he had com e


on her crew  w ithin a w eek of the situation [accident], and w as not sure of the exact


date. W hen asked how  often she had w orked w ith M r. R iley prior to becom ing his


im m ediatesupervisor, she said frequently, because he w as only a day off of m e, so w e


w orked together. W hen asked if she had actually stopped departures w hen she called


the tow er supervisor, she said probably not.


W hen asked how  m uch tim e had elapsed from  the telephone call to the


loss of the target on radar, she said she w as not sure. W hen asked w hy she asked M r.


R iley to put the track of the airplane in handoff status, she said in a handoff status it


w ould not drop off the radar display. W hen asked if the facility has a freeze patch,


such as that at the D allas/Ft. W orth approach control, she said no, w e’re an AR TS M A.


W hen asked if she w as aw are that the pilot had lost his vacuum  pum ps, she said yes.


W hen asked if M r. R iley had inform ed him  of the conversation w ith the center


supervisor, she said that she didn’t bother him  and that he w asn’t aw are. W hen asked


if M r. R iley had inform ed her of the status of his instrum entation, she said that he did


not tell her about that or backup system s. W hen asked if M r. R iley had put the


frequency in the speaker so she could hear w hat w as occurring. S he said no, w e do


not do that unless w e are trying to interpret because it is so distracting. W hen asked if


there w ere handsets to m onitor the position, she said that had it gone on, she w ould


have done that. W hen asked if she could m onitor the position from  the supervisor‘s
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desk, she said yes, but w e don’t do it because it is so isolated and she did not have


tim e to m onitor in any regard.


7. Air Traffic C ontrol P rocedures


Air traffic control procedures are contained in FAA O rder 711.065, “A ir


Traffic C ontrol” and are supplem ented by local standard operating procedures (S O P ).


It w as learned by the ATC  G roup that the radar display at the R -17 sector w ould have


been set to a range of 125 nautical m iles. It w as also learned by the ATC  G roup that


the controllers at A lbuquerque approach control are required to provide surveillance


approach procedures. A  copy of the facility approach log is attached to this report.


8. R adar D ata


The S afety B oard’s investigator-in-charge received radar data from  the


A lbuquerque C enter and approach control. This data w as sent to S afety B oard


headquarters in W ashington, D .C . and w as processed by the V ehicle R ecorders


D ivision of the Board. A ll track plots are attached to this report; how ever, m ore detailed


inform ationw ill be developed by S afety staff and contained in a separate report.


W  R ichard J. entw orth


ATC  G roup C hairm an
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